
 
 

Scrutiny Inquiry Panel - Accessible 
Southampton 

 
 Thursday, 20th January, 2022 

at 5.30 pm 
PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING 

Virtual Meetings  - Virtual meeting 
 

This meeting is open to the public 
 

 Members 
 

 Councillor Vaughan (Chair) 
Councillor Rayment (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Coombs 
Councillor Guest 
Councillor Streets 
 

  
  
  

  

  

 Contacts  
Democratic Support Officer  
Maria McKay 
Email: maria.mckay@southampton.gov.uk  
 
 
 
Scrutiny Manager 
Mark Pirnie 
Tel: 023 8083 3886 
Email: mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk   
 

  

  

  

  

  
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:maria.mckay@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk


 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

Role of Scrutiny Panel Inquiry – Tackling 
Accessible Southampton 
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
have instructed the Scrutiny Panel to undertake an 
inquiry. 

Purpose: To identify whether the physical 

infrastructure of the city creates barriers for people 
with disabilities to access all that Southampton has 
to offer, and, if so, to determine what we can do as a 
city to address this. 

Use of Social Media:- The Council supports 

the video or audio recording of meetings open to the 
public, for either live or subsequent broadcast.  
However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, a person filming 
or recording a meeting or taking photographs is 
interrupting proceedings or causing a disturbance, 
under the Council’s Standing Orders the person can 
be ordered to stop their activity, or to leave the 
meeting.  
By entering the meeting room you are consenting to 
being recorded and to the use of those images and 
recordings for broadcasting and or/training 
purposes. The meeting may be recorded by the 
press or members of the public. 
Any person or organisation filming, recording or 
broadcasting any meeting of the Council is 
responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them doing so. 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the recording of 
meetings is available on the Council’s website.  
 

Southampton: Corporate Plan 2020-2025 
sets out the four key outcomes: 

  
 Communities, culture & homes - Celebrating 

the diversity of cultures within Southampton; 
enhancing our cultural and historical offer 
and using these to help transform our 
communities. 

 Green City - Providing a sustainable, clean, 
healthy and safe environment for everyone. 
Nurturing green spaces and embracing our 
waterfront. 

 Place shaping - Delivering a city for future 
generations. Using data, insight and vision 
to meet the current and future needs of the 
city. 

 Wellbeing - Start well, live well, age well, die 
well; working with other partners and other 
services to make sure that customers get 
the right help at the right time 

 

Public Representations  
At the discretion of the Chair, members of the 
public may address the meeting about any 
report on the agenda for the meeting in which 
they have a relevant interest. 
 
Smoking policy – the Council operates a 
no-smoking policy in all civic buildings. 
 
Mobile Telephones – please turn off your 
mobile telephone whilst in the meeting. 
 
Fire Procedure – in the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take. 
 
Access – access is available for the 
disabled. Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements. 
 
 
 
Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 
2021/2022 
 

7 October 2021 

18 November 2021 

2 December 2021 

20 January 2022 

24 February 2022 

21 April 2022 

 
 
 

 
 



 

 
CONDUCT OF MEETING 

 
Terms of Reference  
 
The terms of reference of the 
Committee are contained in the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 

Business to be discussed 
 
Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this 
meeting. 

 
Rules of Procedure 
 
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. 

Quorum 
 
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance to 
hold the meeting is 3 (including 1 
Independent Member). 

Disclosure of Interests  
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, both the existence and nature of any “personal” or “prejudicial” interests 
they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 
. 

Personal Interests 
 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a personal interest in any matter 
 
(i) if the matter relates to an interest in the Member’s register of interests; or 
(ii) if a decision upon a matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting to a 

greater extent than other Council Tax payers, ratepayers and inhabitants of 
the District, the wellbeing or financial position of himself or herself, a relative 
or a friend or:- 

 (a) any employment or business carried on by such person; 
 (b) any person who employs or has appointed such a person, any firm in 

which such a person is a partner, or any company of which such a 
person is a director; 

 (c)  any corporate body in which such a person has a beneficial interest in a 
class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 

 (d) any body listed in Article 14(a) to (e) in which such a person holds a 
position of general control or management. 

 
A Member must disclose a personal interest. 
 
 
 
 

Continued/…… 
 

 



 

 
Prejudicial Interests 

Having identified a personal interest, a Member must consider whether a member of the 
public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably think that the interest was so 
significant and particular that it could prejudice that Member’s judgement of the public 
interest. If that is the case, the interest must be regarded as “prejudicial” and the Member 
must disclose the interest and withdraw from the meeting room during discussion on the 
item. 
 
It should be noted that a prejudicial interest may apply to part or the whole of an item. 
 
Where there are a series of inter-related financial or resource matters, with a limited 
resource available, under consideration a prejudicial interest in one matter relating to that 
resource may lead to a member being excluded from considering the other matters relating 
to that same limited resource. 
 
There are some limited exceptions.  
 
Note:  Members are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or his staff in 
Democratic Services if they have any problems or concerns in relation to the above. 

 

Principles of Decision Making 
 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

 respect for human rights; 

 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

 setting out what options have been considered; 

 setting out reasons for the decision; and 

 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 
the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  
Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are 
unlawful; and 

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

Agendas and papers are now available online at  
www.southampton.gov.uk/council/meeting-papers  

 
 
1   APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
 To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 

Procedure Rule 4.3.  
 

2   DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 

 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting. 
 

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer. 

 
3   DECLARATIONS OF SCRUTINY INTEREST  

 
 Members are invited to declare any prior participation in any decision taken by a 

Committee, Sub-Committee, or Panel of the Council on the agenda and being 
scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

4   DECLARATION OF PARTY POLITICAL WHIP  
 

 Members are invited to declare the application of any party political whip on any matter 
on the agenda and being scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

5   STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  
 

6   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) (Pages 
1 - 6) 
 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 2 
December 2021, and to deal with any matters arising, attached. 
 

7   ACCESSIBLE SOUTHAMPTON - ACCESSIBILITY TO INFORMATION AND 
COMMUNICATION (Pages 7 - 48) 
 

Wednesday, 12 January 2022 Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
- 10 - 

 

SCRUTINY INQUIRY PANEL - ACCESSIBLE SOUTHAMPTON 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 2 DECEMBER 2021 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillors Rayment (Vice-Chair), Coombs and Guest 
 

Apologies: Councillors Vaughan and Streets 
 

  
 

8. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

The apologies of Councillors Vaughan and Streets were noted. Councillor Rayment – 
Vice Chair, was noted as Chair for the purposes of the meeting.  
 

9. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2021 be approved 
and signed as a correct record. 
 

10. ACCESSIBLE SOUTHAMPTON - ACCESSIBILITY TO TRANSPORTATION AND 
RELATED INFRASTRUCTURE  

The Panel considered the report of the Service Director – Legal and Business 
Operations detailing an introduction to the inquiry’s context and background and noted 
the following presentations. 
 
What contributes to good accessibility in transport and infrastructure from 
Disabled People’s Viewpoint? – Ian Loynes, Chief Executive, Spectrum CIL 
 

 A presentation was delivered by Ian Loynes, summarising the key issues raised 
at the Accessible Southampton Focus Group meeting.   

 Key points raised in the presentation included the following: 
o On the whole things are improving with regards to the accessibility of 

transport in Southampton.  The ability for Disabled People to be 
spontaneous remains a challenge. 

o General principles to follow - Good Access should be built in at the 
design phase; Ask Disabled People – Co-produce is cost effective; Public 
transport should include all, segregated transport is not the answer (Dial-
a-Ride) - expensive & exclusionary; Consider the whole experience - 
Booking / tickets, getting to the public transport destination, interchanges 
(car-taxi-bus-train); Proper consideration of pedestrians, particularly those 
who have impaired senses; It doesn’t matter how good/bad provision is, if 
customer service is wrong. 

o Buses & Coaches - All buses should have more than just one designated 
space for wheelchair users, as we need or wish to travel together with 
other wheelchair users. 

o Creative and flexible design of bus interiors 
o Importance of trained, aware and proactive drivers 
o Buses should have large clear and well-lit route numbering and 

destination signs 
o Sensible seating within bus shelters and bus timetables at bus stops in an 

accessible position. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



 
- 11 - 

 

o Taxi’s - Generally wheelchair users have to book in advance, spontaneity 
not enabled except at Southampton Central. 

o All taxis should be accessible 
o Some taxi drivers are reluctant to pick up wheelchair users and allow 

assistance dogs on board. 
o Trains - Generally good at main stations, most rail staff tended to be 

happy to help. 
o Lack of spontaneity compared with non-disabled people - Supposed to 

book at least 24hrs ahead, although better at main stations. 
o Not so good when plans change 
o Car Travel / Car Parking- difficulty finding suitable accessible parking 

spaces, even outside of busy times 
o Some people with mental health conditions or learning difficulties also 

mentioned difficulties with getting 'Blue Badge' Parking Permits for people 
with non-mobility impairments. 

o Lack of consideration of the real needs of Disabled drivers - Design & 
placement of parking spaces and car parks needs to reflect variety of car 
designs with appropriate signage to reflect usage.  

o Entry/ticket barriers are not usable by many Disabled drivers, simply 
because they cannot reach the buttons without leaving the vehicle, even 
asking for help usually needs a button to be pressed - Design with 
Disabled People. 

o Civic Centre Car Park - These are the best spaces in the City that I can 
use [wheelchair user](not end to end parking) - Currently, if there's an 
event going on, the Civic Centre car park is usually closed. 

o Shopmobility - West Quay ShopMobility is still provided, just differently - 
via Customer Services desk.  It is now free and bookable in advance. The 
City Centre ShopMobility scheme had almost 3,000 hires last year and it 
is estimated that over a third of customers using the scheme spend over 
£50 per city centre visit.  Needs to be ShopMobility scheme in other 
shopping areas of the city. 

o Signage – Some colours used are not good for visually impaired people.  
Recommend that transport providers work with local Disability groups to 
audit signage, both at transport hubs and on vehicles, and make 
improvements to ensure that signage is fully accessible to all Disabled 
passengers. 

 
Key ingredients of an accessible city – Graham Garnett, Inclusive Design Officer, 
Liverpool City Council & former Senior Access Officer at Cheshire West & 
Chester 
 

 Key points raised by Graham during his verbal presentation: 
o Cheshire West and Chester and Liverpool City Council both follow the 

social model of disability. People are disabled due to the barriers that 
exist in society rather than the impairments of the individual. Our job is to 
remove these barriers. 

o Chester have employed an Access Officer continuously since 1991 
o Improving access has been a corporate priority since the mid 1990’s and 

is embedded in the culture of the organisation. 
o Chester employs the principle of least restrictive access approach 
o Corporate Disability Access Forum set up in 2013 

Page 2



 
- 12 - 

 

o EU Access City Award winner in 2017 (only ever UK winner) 
o Storyhouse Cultural Centre – CDAF key role in design of building.  Input 

led to Changing Place, gender neutral toilets (important for significant % 
of population), removable seating to enable people to sit together if a 
member of party is in a wheelchair. 

o Bus interchange – 2018 Accessible Transport Project of the Year – CDAF 
input led to a ‘map for all’ being installed, Changing Place, tactile paving 
to enable visually impaired to navigate the bus station, bins with yellow 
tops that are visible for partially sighted people. 

o Access guides and interpretation panels show wheelchair access points 
for the historic city walls. 

o It is worth investing in improvements and services that encourage 
disabled people to visit your city.  £249bn value of the ‘purple pound’. 

o Liverpool has had a strong commitment to accessibility for a long time.   
Liverpool City Council has an Accessible & Inclusive City Cabinet Member 
to ensure that these are mainstreamed across the Council. 

o Liverpool has strong planning policies in relation to accessibility – Urban 
Design 4 – All new developments must meet the highest standards of 
accessibility and inclusion.  The Access Officer can insist on BS 8300 
standards rather than minimum standards. Hotel rooms with ceiling hoists 
in Liverpool are an example of this. 

o H12 – Accessible Housing Policy – Most ambitious in UK.  All new 
housing must be at least M4(2), accessible or adaptable housing with 
10% M4(3) wheelchair accessible.  This will increase supply of accessible 
and adaptable homes meaning that Disabled People can remain in their 
homes; reduces expensive social care packages; improves sustainability 
of communities. 

o Liverpool has a Corporate Access Forum similar to Chester. Key role in 
contributing to the design of new developments. New Everton FC stadium 
will be the most accessible in the UK – 14 gender neutral toilets, 3 
Changing Places (37 Changing Places in Liverpool with 8 more planned). 

o Liverpool & Chester require all Hackney Carriages to be wheelchair 
accessible.  The accessible fleet contributes to home to school transport 
and accessing day care provision. 

o Accessible rail is more problematic outside main train stations.  
Merseyside has 40 new trains that are accessible including level access 
from train to platform.  No need to book in advance for these services. 

o Access Officer role is essential.  Challenge developers and planners to 
improve accessibility in designs. 

o Priorities for Southampton to introduce, besides an Access Officer, 
include high level commitment in the Corporate Plan and Planning policy 
(this gives you the tools to achieve what you want) & a Cabinet Member 
or Lead Member to champion accessibility that the Access Officer can 
work alongside. 

o Financial, legal and moral rationale for improving accessibility. It is the 
right thing to do. 

 
All Aboard Project – Emma Hurst, Project Co-ordinator, Rose Road Association 
 

 A presentation was delivered by Emma. Key points raised in her presentation 
included the following: 

Page 3



 
- 13 - 

 

o In 2019 Scope surveyed 2,000 people about how difficulties around using 
public transport affects their ability to lead independent, confident and 
connected lives.  The research found that two thirds of disabled people 
had experienced problems using public transport in the last year & 30 
percent of disabled people say that difficulties with public transport have 
reduced their independence. 

o For young people with severe disabilities there can be even more barriers 
to rail travel. In April 2020 Rose Road was awarded a grant from South 
Western Railway which aimed to address some of these issues and to 
build confidence. 

o The project has aimed to encourage young people, and their 
parents/carers, to travel by train by providing the following: Step by step 
guides using PCS (Picture Communication System) to travelling by train; 
Key Facts and Photo routes aimed to help young disabled people to 
identify local places they want to visit, understand the information 
available to them, and inspire confidence that their rail journey will be 
accessible; Helping buy tickets and book assistance; Catching the train – 
a visual story in film format with subtitles; Working with Ordnance Survey 
to produce maps which include accessibility features such as surface, 
incline, lighting, dropped curbs, obstacles – plan is to produce twelve 
maps in urban spaces around train spaces; Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Accessible Travel Facebook Group where people can ask questions 
about accessible travel; A sensory story about a train trip. 

o The project finishes in March 2022.  Information is still being collected. 
The feedback that we have received to date has been largely positive, but 
the following issues still remain: 

 Attitudes of some staff and fellow passengers  
 Buses not suitable if several wheelchair users are travelling so 

dependent on other forms of transport to reach station 
 Worries about changes to timetable 

o South Western Railway staff have had training and are taking it seriously 
and improvements to the accessibility of the rolling stock would be 
welcomed. 

 
How the Council contributes to making Southampton's transport and related 
infrastructure accessible to all – Place Directorate, SCC 
 

 A presentation was delivered by Pete Boustred – Divisional Head of Green City 
and Infrastructure; Wade Holmes – Transport Delivery Team Leader; and Phil 
Bates – Licensing Manager, Southampton and Eastleigh Licensing Partnership. 

 Key points raised in the presentation included the following: 
o Buses - 230+ buses operate in Southampton all buses can 'kneel' to meet 

raised kerbs at bus stops making it quicker and simpler for wheelchair and 
less mobile to access 

o Buses have at least 1 designated wheelchair space where wheelchair 
users have priority over other users 

o Onboard the buses 86% have 'next stop' audio and visual bus stops – last 
remaining being upgraded by operators 

o Local bus operators provide large format printed timetables for the visually 
impaired – these are available from travel shops 

Page 4



 
- 14 - 

 

o Bus Stops - SCC uses the TfL guidance (over and above national 
guidance) and a local Basis of Design is being developed for bus stops 

o Bus operators participate in a number of schemes to improve the 
accessibility of buses. First are signatories to the RNIB charter to assist 
passengers with visual impairments – stopping at bus stops if there is 
someone waiting and talking to passengers about the route; Bluestar run 
Helping Hand Scheme using a card that provides information on any 
assistance they may require; All buses fully compliant with The Public 
Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations (PSVAR) – National Disability 
Strategy (p43) includes a commitment to review the PSVAR regulations, 
starting with research in 2022; Driver training – carry out periodical 
training or internal campaigns. 

o Bus Service Improvement Plan - Developed jointly with bus operators and 
published in October 2021 - Vision that buses are inclusive & value for 
money 

o Request for DfT funding to deliver: Upgrades to all bus stops in 
Southampton to meet standards; Accessibility audits to bus stops – 
footways, security; Work with user groups to develop assistive 
technologies; Continue Independent Travel Training; Innovative and 
capped fares. 

o Next step to create an Enhanced Partnership by March 2022 
o Trains - Of the eight stations in Southampton, one is fully accessible – 

Southampton Central with lifts to all platforms, hearing loops, digital 
displays, staff etc.  The remaining are partially or not accessible. 

o Future improvements being developed through updated Station Travel 
Plans – these include accessibility audits.  

o South Western Railway are the main rail operator in Southampton. They 
are happy to support and engage on specific issues. 

o Ferries - Red Funnel have plans for 2022 to improve vessels – lifts, 
toilets, seating and safety communications 

o Customer service staff provide assistance before, during and after voyage 
o Taxis - Hackney Carriages - the number is fixed at 283 with plates 214-

283 required to be Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAV). Should any 
plate from 001 to 213 become available as a new licence it will also have 
to be a WAV. 

o Private Hire - 1,029 private hire vehicles licensed, 48 are WAVs. 
o Taxi operators have difficulty fulfilling wheelchair work because of the lack 

of vehicles, particularly at school run times when the vehicles are required 
for pupil transport.  

o The Council is in the process of organising the next unmet demand 
survey and can ask they look at this in more detail. The survey is likely to 
take place in April/May 2022. 

o Parking - Disabled Parking widely distributed in locations across the City 
Centre, District Centres and Resident Parking Zones 

o 143 Disabled Bays available in SCC Off Street Car Parks in City Centre 
and District Centres. Level access and lifts to street level and walkways 
are available in all Council Multi-Storey car parks; Surface car parks do 
not carry a charge for Blue Badge Holders 

o SCC Parking Standards (a statutory Planning document) sets out 
minimum number of proportion for disabled parking in new developments 
and meet design standards 

Page 5



 
- 15 - 

 

o Active travel & Micromobility - Social prescribing pilot, EOI stage 1 
successful & awaiting outcome of stage 2 bid to progress onto feasibility - 
Proposal to develop a walking and cycling referral scheme targeting 
adults and children, who live in the some of the most deprived areas 
for those who have high inactivity levels including those with disabilities. A 
range of cycles will be offered to ensure the pilot is inclusive, 
including adaptable bikes, child seats and trailers. 

o Signage – Legible Cities signage has been around for some time.  Keen 
to see how we can improve and adapt them to make them more 
accessible. 

o Home to School Transport - 1200 children receive H2ST. 1021 of those 
have SEND and qualify due to distance or exceptional circumstances and 
are transported to special schools in taxis, accessible minibuses or 
receive personal travel budgets. 

o Independent travel training (ITT) has proven to be beneficial in enabling 
young students to have equality, access and independence. It has been 
geared towards children with special needs who currently use and are 
eligible for H2ST. 

o Integrated transport planning is key to prevent end to end journey failures 
for Disabled People. The Council has a key role in setting policy and 
working with operators. 

o As part of our funding bid to Department for Transport under the Active 
Travel Fund, Council has applied (amongst other items) for £100k capital 
funding for Accessibility Improvements. Although not established yet, if 
the bid is successful a governance framework will be set up to allocate the 
£100k which is likely to take the form of an accessibility forum with a 
terms of reference / membership yet to be determined. The application 
was for funding for the 2022/23 financial year, and Council is waiting for 
an announcement from the Department for Transport. 

o At the moment, the Council is in the design process for two interchanges 
– a rail / bus one, and a bus interchange.  Opportunity to reflect best 
practice in the design of these facilities and to engage Disabled People.  

 
 

Page 6



DECISION-MAKER:  SCRUTINY INQUIRY PANEL 

SUBJECT: ACCESSIBLE SOUTHAMPTON – ACCESSIBILITY TO 
INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION 

DATE OF DECISION: 20 JANUARY 2022 

REPORT OF: SERVICE DIRECTOR – LEGAL AND BUSINESS 
OPERATIONS 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Deputy Chief Executive 

 Name:  Mike Harris Tel: 023 8083 2882 

 E-mail: Mike.harris@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Scrutiny Manager 

 Name:  Mark Pirnie Tel: 023 8083 3886 

 E-mail: Mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

In accordance with the inquiry plan, for the fourth meeting of the ‘Accessible 
Southampton Inquiry’ the Panel will be considering the following issues:  

 Accessibility to information and communication 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) The Panel is recommended to consider the comments made by the invited 
guests and use the information provided as evidence in the review. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To enable the Panel to compile a file of evidence in order to formulate findings 
and recommendations at the end of the review process. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None.   

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. For the fourth meeting of the inquiry the Panel will be considering accessibility to 
information and communication.  For reference the EU Accessible City Award 
Criteria includes the following issues under this heading - measures related to 
access to the city authorities' official information. For instance: accessibility of 
promotional multimedia information of the municipality, advice and citizen 
feedback procedures on the accessibility of the website, online information 
provision in arts, culture, entertainment, sport facilities, signage and guidance in 
public places, outdoor or indoor, tourist/visitor information, accessibility of the 
public information kiosks, provision of assistive technology and inclusive ICT 
resources for the whole community in public libraries and online centres. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



4. To ensure that the views of Disabled People are represented, at the start of the 
meeting the Panel will receive feedback on the key issues raised at the Spectrum 
CIL convened Accessible Southampton Focus Group meeting.  The focus group 
is scheduled to meet on 12th January 2022 to consider accessibility to information 
and communication in Southampton.  

5. Following the feedback from the meeting of the Accessible Southampton Focus 
Group, Rosie Dowty - Lead Speech and Language Therapist at Southampton 
Community Learning Disability Service, Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust, 
aided by Kate Dench, Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Manager at the 
Integrated Commissioning Unit, will be delivering a presentation outlining what 
accessible communication is and informing the Panel about the Communication 
Access Symbol, a new disability access symbol developed in partnership by 
charities and organisations that share a vision to improve the lives of people with 
communication difficulties.  

6. To provide an overview of Southampton City Council’s approach to enabling 
accessible information and communication, a presentation will be delivered by 
Senior Officers from within the City Council’s Customer and Communications 
Division. The presentation will consider issues such as the accessibility of the 
Council’s website and accessible information standards the Council applies.    

 Accessible information – Access guides 

7. As the Panel will recall, at the inaugural meeting of the Inquiry a presentation was 
delivered by representatives from AccessAble.  The presentation (link below) 
identified information provision as one of the 3 key facets of accessibility, 
alongside the welcome and the physical space itself. Information about 
accessibility has the power to make decisions – ‘over ¾ of disabled people have 
not visited somewhere because they could not find the information they needed.’ 
The AccessAble presentation outlined the need to have accessibility information 
where people expect to find it, avoiding the need to search for the information.   

https://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/documents/s53192/AccessAble%20
Southampton%207%20October%202021.pdf  

8. AccessAble identified Sheffield City Council as an example of good practice with 
regards to providing information. Through the Accessible Sheffield project they 
are working on a citywide scale with AccessAble, Disability Sheffield and Nimbus 
Disability to support the ambitions of Sheffield to become an accessible and fairer 
city for all. Access Guides from AccessAble have detailed access information for 
over 2,000 venues in Sheffield. This is available via the Council’s website. 

https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-council/access-disabled-people.html  

9. In Southampton both the University of Southampton and University Hospital 
Southampton (UHS) have published access guides in partnership with 
AccessAble.  UHS launched their new site on 3rd December 2021:  

https://www.accessable.co.uk/university-hospital-southampton-nhs-foundation-
trust/access-guides/centre-block-southampton-general-hospital  

 ICT Provision 

10. The EU Access City Award criteria for accessible information and communication 
also includes inclusive ICT resources.  To provide context to the discussion, 
attached as Appendix 1 is information relating to SO:Let’s Connect. A recent 
initiative launched in Southampton during the initial Covid lockdown in response 

Page 8

https://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/documents/s53192/AccessAble%20Southampton%207%20October%202021.pdf
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/documents/s53192/AccessAble%20Southampton%207%20October%202021.pdf
https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-council/access-disabled-people.html
https://www.accessable.co.uk/university-hospital-southampton-nhs-foundation-trust/access-guides/centre-block-southampton-general-hospital
https://www.accessable.co.uk/university-hospital-southampton-nhs-foundation-trust/access-guides/centre-block-southampton-general-hospital


to a number of services only becoming accessible via on-line channels.  SO:Let’s 
Connect aims to increasing digital connectivity helping improve access to 
information and reducing isolation. 

11. The Panel will also be provided with information relating to the ICT resources and 
assistive technology available within Southampton’s public libraries. 

12.   The invited guests will take questions from the Panel relating to the evidence 
provided.  Copies of any presentations will be made available to the Panel. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue/Property/Other  

13. None 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

14. The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Part 1A Section 9 of the 
Local Government Act 2000. 

Other Legal Implications:  

15. None 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

16. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

17. None 
 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. SO:Let’s Connect 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out? 

No 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection Impact 
Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out? 

No 

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing document 
to be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SO:Lets Connect Evidence for Scrutiny Inquiry V1-0 110122 

 
 

 

 

SO:Let's Connect – Digitally Connecting People (soletsconnect.co.uk) 

 

Submission to January 2022 Meeting of Southampton City Council 

Scrutiny Inquiry on Accessibility 

 

1). Introduction 

i). The SO:Let’s Connect (SLC) project has been running a pilot since early 2020. It 

aims to loan digital devices to people within the City of Southampton who don’t have 

them or whose existing kit is inadequate for social contact, access to health or 

council professionals and services, access to information, education, applying for 

and attending work, exercise services, online retail, banking or entertainment. The 

project helps people to become digitally included rather than excluded.  

ii). As well as IT kit such as a laptop or tablet computer, where necessary the project 

supplies an internet connection via a ‘dongle’ that plugs in to the device. The dongle 

contains a mobile network SIM card that enables internet access, which is funded by 

the project for up to a year. In addition to hardware and internet access, where it is 

needed the project provides a ‘digital connector’. Our digital connectors are 

volunteers who have the ability to communicate with people and help them to use 

the facilities of hardware, software and internet connection. Digital connectors have 

had expert backup from our IT specialists.  

iii). Please see sections below about which groups are affected by digital exclusion 

and in which ways they lose out. This includes people who have disabilities that are 

physical, hidden, psychological or associated with age and other protected 

characteristics. Access to digital resources is just as important as physical access. 

For some of our users, the provision of digital access has made it possible to engage 

with society in ways that would have been impossible without it due to their 

disabilities. Our pilot focus has included people from the SO18 Big Local 

geographical area in north east Southampton, people with mental health issues and 

some people living in Housing Association properties. Examples of ways that people 

have used digital devices have included speaking with and seeing friends and 

relatives online, accessing adult education when prevented from doing so easily by 

disability, engaging in exercise supported online, finding information about health 

issues, being in touch with health professionals, accessing potential employment by 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

https://www.soletsconnect.co.uk/


 

 

people with mental health issues, finding work and improving wellbeing by learning 

new skills. See the website above and Appendices below for more details. People 

have very individual needs and aspirations. The SLC project triage process with 

people newly referred and individual volunteer support has made it possible for 

people to engage as individuals.  

iv). The original set of organisations who set up SLC supplied and continue to supply 

project functions. This includes project management, service management and 

volunteer deployment, referral triage, underlying IT support, equipment stock 

management and our Customer Relationship Manager IT system for recording of 

work with people receiving support.  

v). The project has been run by a joint group, with Southampton Voluntary Services 

SO:Linked project, TWICS, SO18 Big Local (who provided start-up funding), Abri 

Housing Association (who provided funding), Communicare, Drop the Mask 

Productions CIC (see link above to the website they have created), Jamie’s 

Computers,  Energise Me and with input from other groups. All these groups 

provided support, as did individuals from within communities. Liaison took place with 

the NHS, who helped fund and with a range of other City voluntary groups and 

Southampton City Council Housing. Please see Appendix 1 for details of information 

shared with other groups and Appendix 2 for further information about working 

together. In addition, support from the University of Southampton was invaluable in 

finding new volunteers. Appendix 3 is the report of an organisation, WSA Consulting, 

commissioned by SO18 Big Local to research the outcomes and Social Return on 

Investment (SROI) of the SLC project. This report describes the benefits of the 

project and has case study content. Video content of case studies is also available 

within the SLC website above.  

vi). The pilot project has shown how important digital access is to many people who 

are digitally excluded. We have prepared a proposal for an ongoing project and are 

currently assembling the necessary funding. A more detailed report, with a project 

plan and costings are available.  

 

2). Access to What and By Whom 

Accessibility includes access via digital routes. People who are digitally excluded 

cannot access the range of resources and opportunities that others can. This 

includes access to social contact, the converse of which is loneliness. Loneliness 

has been the subject of a previous Scrutiny Inquiry within Southampton which 

concluded that a plan was needed to address the issue, which was seen as 

important for many City residents (Southampton City Council, 2018). Loneliness is 

known to result in increased risk of illness (Valtorta et al., 2016) and risk of death 

(Holt-Lunstad et al., 2015). It also contributes to reduced wellbeing for many people 

who are affected by it (e.g. Hare-Duke et al., 2019). Whilst social contact may take 

place face to face or via older communications media such as telephones, it 

increasingly happens digitally, including via email, social media and video 

communication (OFCOM, 2018). Some groups are less likely than others to use 

Page 12



 

 

digital devices, especially older people.  Although older people are using digital 

systems increasingly often, many do not use them (OFCOM, 2018). However, 

people with Equality Act (Equality Act, 2010) protected characteristics are more likely 

to have reduced access to digital systems. In addition, inability to afford digital 

devices or access to an Internet connection may result in digital exclusion. For some 

purposes, public digital facilities are helpful. However, where private social contact is 

important, or where information security is important, such as purchasing online, 

public facilities, such as through libraries, will not fully meet needs.  

3). Falling Off the Bandwagon 

A persisting issue for older people and those who have disabilities is that of ‘falling 

off the bandwagon’ (Damodaran et al., 2014:163), whereby people who have been 

using digital systems cease to do so. This may be because they are puzzled by 

changes to technology or applications and have no sources of support to make use 

of changed facilities or operating systems. It may also occur where difficulties with 

eyesight, hearing or memory make it harder. People’s concerns about risks of using 

devices mean that they choose not to use them.  

People who have disabilities and other protected characteristics may have specific 

needs in using devices, requiring specialist devices, provision of specific apps, 

support with setup and system use, system maintenance and general 

troubleshooting. These issues may be handled by individuals, family members, 

friends, neighbours or using written material. However, some people will struggle to 

access these. The level of need that exists in all these areas will depend on how the 

needs are defined, but significant numbers of people are seen as having digital 

access needs (Lloyds Bank, 2020). More information is available, including 

information shared with SLC and that found during the pilot.  

4). Issues in Addition to Social Contact 

In addition to meeting the need for social contact, with all its benefits, access to 

digital devices and internet connections opens up a range of other opportunities. The 

SO:Let’s Connect project has identified in its own research with referrers and users 

that people can access online information about a full range of topics, but including 

health information, exercise opportunities and information about services available 

from the City Council and the private sector. This is confirmed by the ‘Measuring 

Change’ work done by consultants for the Big Local project in the north east of 

Southampton. Please see Appendices below. As well as access to information, 

access to professional contact is also helped by digital device use. This has been 

highlighted during the pandemic, which prompted the SLC project. However, some 

changes in access routes will remain in use by public services. Access to online 

retail, banking and other services is also important. Not least, access to 

entertainment is also important for those people who might be unable to access it in 

the offline world. This has an impact on mental health and wellbeing. It has become 

apparent during the pilot project, that use of digital devices can help people access 

mainstream employment since it is often an important recruitment route and is 

important to be able to use digital devices in many occupations.  

Page 13



 

 

5). Enough Devices for a Family 

Even for those people who have access to a modern, smart mobile phone, it may not 

be possible to use some facilities with a small screen which is hard to read or with a 

touchscreen which is hard to use with some applications. Where a family has use of 

a device more than one family member may need to use it at any one time. These 

issues may result in partial digital exclusion. People of different ages may use 

devices for different purposes, highlighted by the differing needs of children, parents 

and older people.  

6). The SO:Let’s Connect Project – History and Recommendations 

The project was established early in 2020 as the Covid-19 pandemic began. Please 

see appendices below for more information about the project, the eight initial 

partners and working together with a wider range of stakeholders. The pilot has been 

assessed as successful and the wider need has been explored and estimated. More 

information is available. Whilst some other organisations offer kit, internet access 

and volunteer support, these areas of support are targetted at particular groups and 

do not meet the full range of needs. From the report and recommendations 

appended below, it will be seen that there is a need for a development of the 

SO:Let’s Connect pilot project into a more comprehensive set of support to provide 

devices on loan, to provide internet access and to provide volunteer support to help 

people to use the devices loaned. Costings and an outline project plan are available.  

 

References 

Damodaran, L., Olphert, C.W. and Sandhu, J. (2014) Falling Off the Bandwagon? 
Exploring the Challenges to Sustained Digital Engagement by Older People. 
Gerontology, 60 (2), 163-173. 

United Kingdom. Equality Act 2010. HMSO. 
Hare-Duke, L., Dening, T., De Oliveira, D., Milner, K. and Slade, M. (2019) 

Conceptual framework for social connectedness in mental disorders: 
Systematic review and narrative synthesis. Journal of Affective Disorders, 
245, 188-199. 

Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T.B., Baker, M., Harris, T. and Stephenson, D. (2015) 
Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic 
Review. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 10 (2), 227-237. 

Lloyds Bank (2020) Lloyds Bank UK Consumer Digital Index 2020. Lloyds Bank. 
Ofcom (2018) Adults' Media Use and Attitudes Report. Available from: 

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/113222/Adults-Media-
Use-and-Attitudes-Report-2018.pdf [Accessed 16th July 2018]. 

Southampton City Council (2018) Combating Loneliness in Southampton Scrutiny 
Inquiry - Draft. Available from: 
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/images/combating-loneliness-in-
southampton-draft_tcm63-393674.pdf [Accessed 3rd January 2019]. 

Valtorta, N.K., Kanaan, M., Gilbody, S., Ronzi, S. and Hanratty, B. (2016) Loneliness 
and social isolation as risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke: 
systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal observational studies. 
Heart, 102 (13), 1009-1016. 

Page 14

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/113222/Adults-Media-Use-and-Attitudes-Report-2018.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/113222/Adults-Media-Use-and-Attitudes-Report-2018.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/images/combating-loneliness-in-southampton-draft_tcm63-393674.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/images/combating-loneliness-in-southampton-draft_tcm63-393674.pdf


 

 

 

Appendix 1 

SO:Let’s Connect 

Digital Inclusion Project 

Main Points Summary for City-Wide Group 

Introduction 

SO:Let’s Connect was established in July 2020 when SO: Linked initiated a task and 

finish group under the leadership of Paul Lewzey. It comprises a partnership of eight 

local organisations who came together with the aim of providing digital access to the 

residents of Southampton who have difficulties in achieving this. Discussions to 

establish collaborative working with a wider range of organisations are in place and 

ongoing. This report has been informed by monitoring of activity and surveys of 

people receiving support, which confirms that demand exists. 

A pilot project has been undertaken, targeting residents of the SO18 Big Lottery 

area, Abri tenants in Mansbridge and patients with a diagnosis of mental illness 

across the city of Southampton. Significant progress has been made. 

Digital exclusion can have a detrimental effect on people’s health, wellbeing, 

economic and social opportunities. SO:Let’s Connect are aware that this is an 

ongoing challenge for our communities, further highlighted as a result of the 

pandemic.  

Continued funding and commitment is needed in order to expand and capitalise on 

the successful outcomes emerging from the SO:Let’s Connect pilot project.  

Current provision  

A number of referrals have been, and are still being received. Pilot managers are in 

place and a number of volunteer ‘digital connectors’ have joined the project.  

A supply chain for provision of “kit” has been established, using recycled hardware 

where available and appropriate. 

Those referred to the service receive an initial “triaging” call to establish what their 

requirements are for: 

● Type of equipment 
● Internet access 
● Technical advice/support 

 

Once suitable equipment is in place a Digital Connecter makes contact and supports 

the service user with help and advice to get started and problem shoot whilst they 

become competent. This includes guidance on how to use the internet safely. 

More advanced training is not included but beneficiaries will be given guidance on 

how to access suitable courses. 

Page 15



 

 

A survey has been conducted and a waiting list is being established to estimate the 

level of demand. 

By 26th April 2021 a customer relationship manager (CRM) IT system was in place 

and training provided to SO: Let’s Connect system users.   

 

Objectives for April 2021 – March 2022 

 

Four areas of focus have been identified: 

1. Build on and develop the work already done to provide a trusted service 
to those who are digitally excluded in the city by 

 

2. Recruit, train and support Digital Connectors 
 

3. Work together with other providers to ensure that resources are used 
efficiently and effectively 

 

4. Extend awareness of the scheme through community engagement 
underpinned by a sound PR strategy 

 

5. Explore the use of assistive technology and other supports for access 
to systems, as a further development over the period of the main 
project.  

 

Funding required 

To deliver the priorities outlined above, funding will be needed to provide 

● Staffing 
● Equipment 
● Internet connection 
● Volunteer recruitment, training and support 

 

 

  

Page 16



 

 

Appendix 2 

Working towards inclusion of people who are digitally excluded in 

Southampton 

Rough Draft of Agreement for Working together 1/2/21 

Updated 8/2/21, 23/2/21 and 26/2/21 

 

The Groups below have reached agreement on their joint approach to how they 

would like people who are not digitally included to be supported during the Covid 

pandemic and also when it is over. This forms part of joint recommendations to the 

City Digital Strategy group.  

We recognise each organisation’s specialist areas of expertise. We have agreed that 

we will share information about sources of potential resources, although each 

organisation aims to make its own funding applications. We will coordinate our 

planning for development so that we avoid duplication and can reassure potential 

providers of resources that we are working collaboratively.  

As we enable more people who are digitally excluded to go online, we see it as 

important that we share our learning with each other.  

Agreed approach; 

1). We want to arrange that people who are unable to access the internet but wish to 

do so are helped in that and are fully included. 

2). We want to arrange that anyone who does not have the device and/or tools 

needed for access gets a device, tools and the support that they need to make use 

of it. 

3). We want to arrange encouragement and support with motivation for those people 

who might be wary of trying to use the internet. 

4). We will aim to arrange that small trusted groups of providers can be assembled 

that help people to start their engagement. 

5). We want people to be safe online. We will ensure high quality training in online 

safety for those we support. We will explore development of a kitemark approach to 

digital safety. 

6). We will respect people’s real concerns about privacy and online safety, taking 

care about how we present online security. 

7). People should be helped to make use of the good things that access gives you, 

including access to services and control over their own lives. We will aim not to put 

people off with technical language that could alarm them.  

8). We will start from the point of view of potential system users and work 

backwards.  

Page 17



 

 

9). We want to ensure  that the right opportunities are developed.  

10). We want to make sure that people have options for face to face connection as 

well as digital. Digital should not be the default. This may include hard copy contact 

too. Solutions should be tailored to the needs of the client and best use of resources 

for the organisation.  

11). We aim to work together, collaboratively to make sure that people get the best 

opportunities across the city as a result. 

12). We want to make sure that limited resources are used wisely. 

13). We will identify realistic steps for areas where progress can be made. 

 

Groups wishing to give their support to this approach are (alphabetically); 

Age UK Southampton 

Citizens’ Advice Southampton 

City Council Housing 

Communicare 

Saints Foundation 

Social Care in Action 

SO: Let’s Connect 

SO: Linked 

SVS 

  

Page 18



 

 

Appendix 3 

Measuring Change – Study of the part of the pilot of SO:Let’s Connect within the 

SO18 Big Local patch which includes parts of Harefield, Midanbury and Townhill 

Park.  

  

Page 19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Measuring Change 

SO:Let’s Connect 

SO18 Big Local pilot study 

 

   
 

 

 

Jo Proctor, SO18 Big Local 

Iane Chambers, TWICS & SO:Linked 

Yvonne Prendergast, WSA Consulting 

September 2021 

 

 

  

Page 20



 

 

Measuring Change – SO:Let’s Connect SO18 Big Local pilot study 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

Background ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

SO18 Big Local investment .................................................................................................................. 1 

Project aims ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

Project methods ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

Creating change .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Measuring the change ........................................................................................................................ 5 

SO:Let’s Connect – what did we learn? .................................................................................................. 5 

Reasons why clients contacted SO:Let’s Connect ............................................................................... 5 

Impact of the project .......................................................................................................................... 7 

Changes in clients’ lives .................................................................................................................. 7 

Social return on investment (SROI) ................................................................................................. 9 

Changes for SO18BL and SO:Let’s Connect ..................................................................................... 9 

Learning about measuring change ................................................................................................ 10 

How change was created ...................................................................................................................... 12 

What worked well to create change ................................................................................................. 12 

What could have worked better ....................................................................................................... 13 

How can we use our learning to improve our delivery? ....................................................................... 14 

Annex 1 – Measuring Change questionnaire ........................................................................................ 16 

Annex 2 – SO:Let’s Connect feedback from clients .............................................................................. 19 

Summary of information collected about people who contacted the project and why they got in 
touch ................................................................................................................................................. 19 

Summary of support received by project clients .............................................................................. 20 

What difference did the support make to clients? ........................................................................... 21 

 

Thanks to all the clients, volunteers and workers who shared their experiences and 

views as part of measuring the change created by the SO: Let's Connect Big Local 

pilot project. 

 

     I don’t think we would have survived lockdown without SO:Let’s Connect. 

Project client.           

Page 21



 

 

Introduction 
 

Background 
Initially called “Switched On Southampton”, the “SO:Let’s Connect” project was 

conceived from an idea raised by a CCG Commissioner1 to help connect people in 

Southampton digitally, as the Covid-19 lockdown (March 2020) was exacerbating the 

digital divide. This was causing people who were not digitally connected to become 

even more isolated as their usual social connections were not able to happen 

physically.  

 

SO18 Big Local were approached by the steering group behind SO:Let’s Connect as 

funding was required for a pilot study to help get the project off the ground.  The 

steering group was formed by representatives from TWICS (Training for Work in 

Communities), Abri Housing, SO:Linked, Jamie’s Computers2and resident 

volunteers.  The group was then also joined by Drop The Mask Productions CiC3.   

 

SO18 Big Local’s own existing project to support people in using IT (Townhill Helping 

Hub) had ceased due to the Covid-19 lockdowns, so there was an existing 

commitment at SO18BL to support people in learning digital skills, but without a 

project in place at that time. 

 

SO18 Big Local investment 
The SO18 Big Local worker joined the steering group during the Summer of 2020 

and then presented the SO18 Big Local Partnership Committee (SO18BLPC) with a 

proposal for funding the pilot project (at the July meeting).  There was to be a 

second, smaller scale, pilot that covered the neighbouring Mansbridge area, funded 

by Abri Housing.  The SO18BLPC agreed to fund a pilot project in the SO18 Big 

Local area for £15,000 for a year, to provide IT equipment and support to residents 

that were currently more isolated due to a lack of digital skills/digital 

confidence/connectivity.  The PC acknowledged that while this was a large sum to 

commit, this would make a real difference to local people, in the very near future.  

The benefits of this were thought to be clear as we were moving towards the 

Autumn/Winter period when the option of holding events outside was becoming less 

feasible, and many people were still concerned about gathering in groups, even if 

restrictions were relaxed and indoor events were allowed. In addition, there was 

awareness of the increasing trend for information, support and welfare services to 

move online. 

                                            
1 Clinical Commissioning Group 
2 Computer Recycling Social Enterprise 
3 An IT & Media CIC who are dedicated to supporting people with mental health challenges – DTMP train and 
employ them as part of their ethos 

Page 22



 

 

 

For a long time we have been aware of a lack of IT equipment for people in 

our SO18 patch and were doing ‘tea & tech’ sessions to teach digital skills. 

However, this was reliant on people coming to the area. With lots of social 

services and Universal Credit going online during Covid it became even more 

important for people to have digital equipment and skills in order to be able to 

partake in society. 

 

SO18 Big Local volunteer 

The £15,000 figure was based upon supporting up to 50 residents, providing them 

with technology (laptop/tablet/desktop computer) and/or internet data and/or 

volunteer mentoring support. There was to be match funding from SO:Linked (in the 

form of staff time/work to create referral forms, volunteer recruitment, ongoing 

management of the referrals) and Drop The Mask Productions CiC (a year’s worth of 

support costs to provide ongoing support to the volunteers and residents to the tune 

of £5000-9000). Drop The Mask Productions CiC were also offering to produce free 

promotional videos etc to help publicise the project as well as GDPR compliance 

support, and TWICS were working on including some online learning for volunteers 

using the IT in their Adult Education bid. 

 

Project aims 
The SO:Let’s Connect project aimed to help people (identified on a referral basis, 

including self-referral): 

• Who were nervous of using tech to develop their confidence  

• Didn’t have tech and / or needed help using it 

• Couldn’t afford tech equipment or connectivity 

 

To: 

• Connect with friends and family, and access online activities, information, advice, 

support and health services. 

• Feel less lonely and isolated 

Project methods 
 

Creating change 
The intention of the SO:Let’s Connect project was that by supporting clients to be 

more digitally connected, they would be able to better partake in activities and be 

more connected to people and local services.  This was to be done through a 

Page 23



 

 

combination of three things.  Firstly, providing them with the physical hardware that 

they needed, if they did not have access to this already, in the form of a loan for up 

to a year, of either a laptop, desktop or tablet.  The clients would also be given, in 

circumstances where they had no internet access, an amount of internet data to 

allow this.  Thirdly, every client was offered a “Digital Connector” (DC), a volunteer 

mentor who would be able to support them to achieve what they wished to learn in 

terms of digital skills, be that ordering groceries, attending an exercise class, having 

a Zoom call with family etc.  These DCs would be able to advise clients (initially by 

phone, owing to Covid restrictions) at a pace that was suitable for each client, as 

opposed to a traditional “IT course” that assumed all learners started from the same 

skill level.   

 

The assumptions and ways of working behind the project are outlined below in the 

project’s Theory of Change.

Page 24



 

 
 

Underlying values and ways of working 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         

 

Activities Inputs 

 

Outcomes 

SO: Let’s Connect SO 18 Big Local Pilot: Theory of Change  

Improved digital skills, 

confidence and 

motivation 

 

Greater connection 

with other people 

 

Increased 

engagement in 

meaningful activities 

 

Increased / easier 

access to services 

 

Improved physical 

and mental well-being 

 

Assumptions 

P
age 25



 

 

Measuring the change 
In order to capture the success, or otherwise, of the SO18 Big Local pilot study, 

several methods were used: 

 A simple questionnaire was developed to capture clients’ level of digital 

connectivity, IT skills and loneliness at the start of them receiving support from 

SO:Let’s Connect, with a second set of “after questions” to measure the same things 

once they had been involved with the project for a period of time.  The 

questionnaire was designed to be conducted as a conversation with their DC, rather 

than as a document that they were sent to fill in themselves, and a simple Excel 

spreadsheet was constructed to record the clients’ answers. The questionnaire is 

included in Appendix 1. 

 Client records were reviewed. 

 For a few clients, “Life stories” were written at the end of their period of support, 

about the range of differences the project had made to them (created from in-depth 

conversations).  

 Video recordings were made of people speaking directly about the support they 

gained and the difference it made.  

In addition to the information gathered from SO:Let’s Connect clients, we also 

captured the reflections and feedback from those involved in the project as workers 

or volunteers as well as SO18BLPC members. As part of this process a video has 

been produced, which includes a client, workers and volunteers reflecting on the pilot 

process and its outcomes. The video, which can be accessed at 

https://youtu.be/Yj2r4lThj8Q was produced by Drop the Mask Production CiC as part 

of their contribution to the pilot. 

SO:Let’s Connect – what did we learn? 
Reasons why clients contacted SO:Let’s Connect 
Full data from the ten clients who benefited from the project is presented in Annex 2 

– SO:Let’s Connect feedback from clients.  Clients were recruited via referrals either 

by themselves or via outside agencies, e.g. local schools, doctor surgeries.  

Advertising was done via a mixture of “offline” – large-scale leaflet delivery across 

the SO18BL area, including via local schools and online “do you know someone who 

might benefit…” using SO18BL’s existing Facebook and e-newsletter accounts.  

Fewer clients than anticipated contacted the project during the first year of the pilot 

study, as Covid-19 restrictions made face-to-face conversations difficult – these were 

needed to back-up the information on the leaflets, as we encountered some 

suspicion that “this cannot really be for free” and equally some concerns from people 

as to whether they “were in need enough” of the support.  This led to a significant 

underspend by SO18BL, and within the first year of SO:Let’s Connect, only £5,228 

was spent, not the £15,000 budgeted. 

 

Page 26

https://youtu.be/Yj2r4lThj8Q


 

 

While the pilot aimed to reach up to 50 clients in the first year, fewer clients than 

anticipated contacted the project, with 10 people gaining support – 9 women and 1 man. 

However, it is likely that the pilot’s ‘ripple effect’ led to more people than this benefiting 

indirectly, for example: 

 

 Most clients lived with family members who were also enabled to do a range of 
things online e.g. school work, sports activities and connecting with friends. 

 People who reported that connecting with others online had relieved their 
loneliness, may also have benefited the people that they interacted with. 

 The pilot manager reported that some clients who accessed SO:Let’s Connect across 
Southampton had found out about the project from someone using the Big Local 
pilot. 

 If digital devices are not purchased by clients at the end of their loan period, they 
can be lent to other clients, so can help two or more clients from the one purchase 
price. 

 

There were a variety of specific reasons behind clients being referred, or referring 

themselves, to the SO:Let’s Connect project but all revolved, as predicted, about the 

need for being able to better connect, either to services, support or friends/family, 

particularly within the context of Covid-19 lockdowns and restrictions.  Four clients 

needed only hardware and/or internet data, but six also took up the offer of support 

from a Digital Connector, to help them with specific tasks they wanted to achieve 

online.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I have never used IT. I‘d like a 

laptop and someone to show me 

how to use it - to Zoom, shop and 

learn to knit. I have friends but 

because of Covid I can’t see 

anyone and feel extremely 

isolated. 

 

My children are doing 

school work from home via 

a mobile phone – it’s a 

nightmare. 

 

 

 I would like to get online and 

learn to shop, browse the 

internet and connect with 

friends. I also need to log into 

my Universal Credit account. 

 

My family is shielding and we 

are extremely isolated. As 

well as needing a laptop to 

complete college work, it 

would mean my disabled son 

could do his judo lessons and 

we could Zoom with family.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 27



 

 

Impact of the project 
 

Changes in clients’ lives 
The information gathered from the clients (see Annex 2 – SO:Let’s Connect 

feedback from clients) shows that the project helped reduce loneliness for some 

clients: 

Before, I often felt lonely, but I don’t now as I can study, do activities and connect 

regularly with people online. 

Being able to connect with people and do fun arts projects has definitely helped with 

loneliness. 

For others, the project enabled them to get online for the first time, increased their 

digital skills or allowed them to use existing skills in a much better way, i.e. some of 

the activities they were doing online may not have changed, but the ease with which 

they could undertake those activities was improved. Each person said that their 

needs were met very well by the project, with support of mentors being much 

appreciated and all were keen to continue developing their skills and internet use. 

I am still very keen to learn, and I love doing it. My mentor has been very helpful and I 

appreciate her persistence with communicating with me over these 6 months (when I’ve 

been unwell and in-and-out of hospital.) 

The videos and life stories show real individual impact and positive change, with 

quotes showing significant differences have been brought about directly as a result 

of the project.   

Having the internet means I can get help with writing a CV and I will be able to look for 

jobs. Also, my daughter loves using a drawing App. 

It’s helped us to survive. Being able to Zoom and see my mother and children face-face 

when talking to them is completely different. 

It’s enhanced and opened up new possibilities for me. 

 

To have moved clients from “I feel isolated while shielding” to “we wouldn’t have 

survived lockdown without the laptop” and allowing them, via something as 

seemingly simple as the loan of equipment, to complete college courses, maintain a 

sense of routine while during lockdown (particularly for children with additional 

needs) and help people connect with friends and family when unable to see them in 

person, is invaluable.  

 

 

 

Page 28



 

 

Rachel’s story 
 
Rachel lives with her husband and 8-year-old daughter.  She found out about SO:Let’s 
Connect via a leaflet in a play pack provided by SCPAi during half-term holiday.  Rachel had a 
laptop but was unsure of how to use some functions, and needed support, particularly as 
there was a growing amount of school work being sent online for her daughter to complete. 
 
Rachel was one of the first residents to ring SO:Linked specifically about SO:Let’s Connect and 
there was some teething trouble with the SO:Linked telephone menu system (that was 
quickly rectified after Rachel raised this) but once contact was made with the SO:Let’s 
Connect team, they were able to provide Rachel with support quickly. 
 

“I initially needed some help with updating the operating system, but then my laptop 
actually died before we could do that, so Greg was able to arrange a short notice loan 
of a laptop.  That laptop had some sound issues, but Greg was quickly able to provide 
me with an alternative and in particular was able to rescue all my files from my broken 
laptop, so I didn’t lose any of my photos etc.” 
 

As things progressed and schools were closed, Rachel found she needed to use the laptop 
more to support her daughter’s learning.  Rachel’s mentor (Digital Connector), Helen, was 
able to help with some email issues, and helped Rachel with using cloud storage for photos.    
 

“From my first contact with the project, everyone has been so supportive and 
welcoming. Iane who first spoke to me was lovely, and Greg and Helen have always 
been very patient, and made me feel like nothing was too much trouble.  People can 
feel embarrassed when asking for help, and worried about whether they are deemed 
‘needy enough’ to access projects like these, but I would encourage people to get in 
touch if they need any support – it may seem like a small thing, but in lockdown, the 
laptop really was our connection to the outside world and was really needed”. 
 

For Rachel, having the laptop allowed her to not only home-school her daughter, but also 
stay connected to family and friends.  She has learned some new IT skills and taken part in 
online exercise classes – her daughter has even been able to join a ballet class remotely.  
Rachel has taken the decision to continue with home-schooling post-lockdown, as this was 
working better for her daughter who is autistic.  The laptop means that Rachel has been able 
to research educational resources and order items to support the lessons, as well as 
accessing support for her daughter’s autism and ordering groceries. 
 

“I’ve even made new friends via joining online tours of places during lockdown and 
started an online art class.  I feel a lot more confident now and am really grateful to 
SO:Let’s Connect for all the support they have given me.  I hope more local people can 
avail themselves of this support as it’s been amazing”. 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

Social return on investment (SROI)  

Given the significance for every-day life of being digitally included, we recognise that 

a range of work has been done to identify what being ‘digitally included’ is worth to 

the individual, i.e. what difference it makes in someone’s life and what monetary 

value can be placed on that change. While this is a complex area, which is beyond 

the remit of measuring the change of our pilot, we find it useful to acknowledge the 

potential return on investment of the SO18BL financial contribution and contribution 

in time and expertise of all partners.  

As an example, the study ‘Valuing Digital Inclusion’ 4 estimated the following values: 

We estimate the value of digital inclusion for a new user as £1,064 per 

annum. This comes from having more confidence, making financial savings 

online, less boredom, opportunities to pursue hobbies, new job-seeking skills, 

and a reduction in social isolation. We estimate the additional value of digital 

inclusion for an advanced user as £1,756. This comes from being online more 

and being able to do more activities. 

Just Economics, for BT, 2014 

 

Changes for SO18BL and SO:Let’s Connect 

Increased SO18BL profile:   

Involvement in the SO:Let’s Connect project itself has raised the profile of SO18 Big 

Local across Southampton, increasing the credibility and reputation of the 

organisation beyond the area in which it is focussed (Townhill Park, Harefield and 

Midanbury). The profile of SO18BL has also been raised within the national Big 

Local programme, as the SO18BL worker’s involvement at the Local Trust “Digital 

Inclusion Cluster” has resulted in several other Big Local areas speaking to SO18BL 

about SO:Let’s Connect and asking for tips and guidance for setting up similar 

projects in their own Big Local areas.  

I have spoken to Big Local areas across the country about this project (a benefit of Zoom) 

who are working on similar set-ups within their own areas – there is a real drive to 

support residents to be more digitally connected, and partnership working definitely 

seems to be the way forward, both in terms of expertise and sustainability. 

SO18BL worker 

Learning about engaging people in digital inclusion projects:  

Running this pilot project during changing levels of Covid lockdowns and restrictions, 

has really highlighted the importance of face-to-face communication with people. 

Whilst as a community project this has always been important for SO18BL, this has 

highlighted how hard it is to reach people (and thus overcome the reluctance to 

engage, or the suspicion of free support) without those personal conversations. 

                                            
4 This study focused on the experiences of older people: https://www.justeconomics.co.uk/digital-

inclusion/the-value-of-digital-inclusion  

Page 30

https://www.justeconomics.co.uk/digital-inclusion/the-value-of-digital-inclusion
https://www.justeconomics.co.uk/digital-inclusion/the-value-of-digital-inclusion


 

 

Recruitment in the SO:Let’s Connect pilot in the SO18BL area (i.e. the area 

recruiting based on geography alone) was less than other pilots where there were 

existing client bases (from housing and mental health services) to refer, and support 

workers in place. 

Evidencing the need for digital inclusion projects and gaining wider 

investment: 

The funding provided by SO18 Big Local enabled the SO:Let’s Connect project to 

get started, which in turn enabled the steering group to secure funding for other pilot 

projects. In addition to the small scale Abri Housing Association funded pilot, there 

followed significant investment from the Winter Pressures Fund to support clients 

city-wide that were accessing mental health support services.  In turn, evidence from 

these pilot projects, and the systems now in place at SO:Let’s Connect as a result of 

running the pilots, are enabling the steering group to bid for funding to cover the 

whole of Southampton. 

Two members of the Steering Group (including the SO18BL worker) also presented 

at a National Health Conference on the topic of Digital Inclusion, reaching a wide 

audience including local Clinical Commissioning Group representatives, which could 

be important in securing future funding for SO:Let’s Connect. 

The SO18BL worker and I have presented the project to a national "Improving 

Health" conference.  As a result I have been in contact with organisations who 

wanted to learn more about it and in particular, procedures to keep clients and 

equipment safe. It has been a pleasure to share learning from the Big Local pilot. 

SO:Let’s Connect SO18BL Pilot Manager 

Learning about measuring change 
 

Gather ‘before’ and ‘after’ information to identify impact: The SO18BLPC and 

workers have learned that keeping it simple is key – in order to maximise the 

likelihood that the before/after questions are completed, they need to be simple, 

easy to record and quick to carry out, particularly when relying on volunteers to 

collect this information.  “Before vs. after” does however give a very meaningful 

measurement of change. 

Develop ‘life stories’: In-depth conversations with clients which provided ‘stories of 

change’ provide excellent examples of how qualitative information can be just as 

useful as quantitative, and that it’s not always pertinent to focus solely on the 

numbers of clients reached.   

Use a range of methods to gather information in different formats: This not only 

facilitates validation of findings but adds depth to these and can prove a valuable 

resource as the techniques used here are easily and readily transferable to other 

SO18BL projects.   

 

Page 31



 

 

Share learning on measuring change: SO18BL have also been asked to share 

their learning regarding Measuring Change with other Big Local areas, and again 

have been approached by Local Trust and associated organisations to share their 

experiences of working within the SO:Let’s Connect steering group, as part of 

research into Big Local’s working with external agencies.   

Measuring the change in SO18BL’s reputation and the benefit of these increased 

relationships with other organisations is harder to quantify but is already proving an 

important source of support, expertise and contacts for SO18BL workers and will 

undoubtedly do the same for the SO18BL volunteers as the organisation moves 

forward and starts to seek further funding itself in years to come. 

I’ve learned to keep it simple and use software that is simple to use.  Before and after is 

the best meaningful measurement. The role of people stories shows a more in-depth 

picture of people’s experience.  

SO18BL volunteer 

 

Marie’s story 
Marie, who previously had a successful career, had to give up work on health grounds and now is 
largely confined within her home, drawing disability benefits and with a family member providing 
care. She was shielding during lock-down and feeling isolated. 
 
She was fairly confident using digital devices; however her PC was very old, without a microphone or 
camera and she could not afford to buy a newer one. She was unable to connect with her family 
online and struggled to do be able to join in arts projects, that she loves and is a vital creative outlet 
since she struggles to join in activities. 
 

My mother is in her 90s and lives far from me, as do my children. I could talk to them but it’s 
completely different being able to see them face-face. I was not going to be able to see my 
mother for a long-time and when someone is elderly you just don’t know what might happen. 
 

Marie heard about SO:Let’s Connect from a Big Local worker and was loaned a Chromebook, which 
she said had made a big difference: 
 

I don’t think we would have survived lockdown without it. 
 

As well as doing all sorts of her usual online activities more easily, such as shopping, banking and 
getting prescriptions she explained the significance of now being able to have face-face contact with 
her family and to do creative activities: 
 

I can chat to my mother and children on Zoom and it’s a completely different feeling. being 
able to see them. Also, it’s been great doing craft activities – it’s fun, let’s me develop my 
creativity and makes me feel I’ve achieved something. I’m also keen to get involved in 
organising community events and online is the way to do it. 

 

 

Page 32



 

 

How change was created 
 

Providing tailored support: Change was created in clients’ lives directly thanks to, 

in practical terms, being able to provide them with the support and equipment they 

needed, but also due to the commitment and determination of all those involved in 

SO:Let’s Connect to make it work.   

The project has a lot of flexibility build into it and responds to changing needs 

of our clients. A client who moved house found that she had to wait two weeks 

for broadband to be installed but needed the internet for work and home 

schooling. We were able to provide her with a MiFi device the same day. 

SO18 BL SO:Let’s Connect Pilot Manager 

Effective partnership working: Partnership working was crucial in the SO:Let’s 

Connect project – the SO18BL funds were the first that the SO:Let’s Connect project 

gained and so were vital in enabling the steering group to gain other funding; 

conversely, SO18BL could not have implemented such a Digital Inclusion project 

without the tech support, systems, access to DCs, policies e.g. safeguarding, and so 

on provided by the steering group. 

What worked well to create change 
 

 SO:Let’s Connect, due to the way it was set up, was able to provide a bespoke, 

flexible service that was able to respond to clients’ needs.  Clients that accessed the 

project were “triaged” to access their needs in terms of what support they needed 

(hard-ware-wise) and who might be able to best support them (from the pool of 

available DCs).  When recruiting DCs, the target was to recruit volunteers that had 

good people skills with a sufficient level of tech knowledge, rather than to recruit 

technical experts that may have had less in the way of people skills.  The backup of 

the technical organisations (Drop The Mask Productions CiC and Jamie’s Computers) 

meant that if needed, the DCs could themselves access tech support if their client 

had a query that they could not answer themselves.  The DCs are committed to 

supporting people, and themselves find this a worthwhile project - one told us: 

 

 I really enjoy it when I can help people to do things that they couldn’t do 

before.  It’s lovely to get people over the hump when they’ve got stuck trying 

to do an application. 

 

 The project benefited from the expertise of those within the steering group, 

combined with the local knowledge and contacts of the SO18BL worker and 

volunteers. The SO18BL Vice-Chair also joined the Steering Group during the course 

of the SO:Let’s Connect project and was proactive in developing the bespoke 

database used to measure change.  

Page 33



 

 

 The focus on recruiting the first group of Digital Connectors was on finding 

volunteers from the SO18BL area, which provided a level of trust for local clients.  

 The embedding of the SO18BL worker within the Steering Group also allowed her 

to gather information directly in order to help measure project progress and provide 

updates to the SO18BLPC.  This also worked in the other direction – for example, 

with SO18BLPC members querying the “exit strategy” leading to conversations at 

SO:Let’s Connect to develop the agreement that clients could buy their equipment at 

the end of the loan period. 

 There was a high level of commitment among steering group members and the 

organisations that employed them (where they were workers) – a significant amount 

of “people time” was provided, particularly in the early stages, in order to allow the 

project to move forward rapidly when getting established. 

 There was similarly a high level of engagement in the work being done to measure 

the change created by the SO:Let’s Connect project. The involvement of both 

steering group members and SO18BLPC members in capturing and measuring the 

changes being made to clients lives via the project, allowed both measuring change 

work and the SO:Let’s Connect project to be adapted where needed as processes 

evolved e.g. when challenges were being reported with regards to timescales of 

accessing equipment.   

 The separate BL pilot database to collect the client before/after information made 

the recording of the information much simpler and quicker, rather than relying on 

the SO:Let’s Connect CRM (Client Relationship Management) database.  

What could have worked better 
 

 There were challenges in setting up such a project during Covid restrictions – 

demand for hardware soon outstripped supply and it proved hard to source 

equipment within budget at some points as around the country there was a surge in 

demand for laptops etc. Some workers were also furloughed, while others had 

significant demands on their time.   

 There were also some pinch points in people’s time, as although everyone “round 

the table” was incredibly committed to the project, there was also a need for a 

dedicated Project Manager, which was / is not possible until funding is sourced for 

the city-wide project. 

 Without a dedicated client list to refer to the project, and without the ability to 

conduct face-to-face conversations during lockdowns, it was a challenge to recruit 

clients to the SO18BL pilot.  Advertising was challenging as by the very nature of the 

project, we were trying to recruit people that in the main, were not online – online 

advertising was able to reach those using only their mobile phones to access e.g. 

social media, and advertising on social media used the approach of “do you know 

someone who needs support…” but this was not as effective as being able to talk to 

people, particularly when needing to overcome concerns about whether one was 

Page 34



 

 

“needy enough” to access the project, or “what’s the catch?” fears when offered 

free support. 

 Providing support solely over the telephone and being unable to support clients 

face-to-face (due to Covid restrictions) was particularly challenging, both for the 

clients and the DCs. 

 As the SO:Let’s Connect project grew, and secured the additional funding from 

Mental Health services, there was a need for increased recording systems within 

SO:Let’s Connect.  Moving to the new CRM part way through the project was a 

challenge – as with any new tech system there were some teething troubles, and a 

balance to be struck given the DCs are all volunteers and having to learn a new 

system. 

 There were concerns as to whether the project was providing value for money 

among some members of the SO18BLPC, given the level of committed investment 

but the low number of clients supported. 

 

How can we use our learning to improve our delivery?  
 

 Adapt/develop recruitment methods: Whilst £15,000 was initially committed by 

SO18BL to the SO:Let’s Connect project, thus far £5200 has been spent of this, 

mainly on hardware for the project, which means that there is some SO18BL funded 

hardware “ready and waiting” for future SO18BL referrals.  SO18BL can now work on 

recruiting more clients to the SO:Let’s Connect project, as the SO18BL community 

Hub reopens and other projects are set up/restarted, allowing face to face 

conversations once more when we can more easily address reservations highlighted 

by potential clients.  Follow up leaflet drives could be conducted, targeting e.g. 

charity shops, local food projects and so on.  We could also utilise the videos we 

have of how the project benefits those involved, and show them at local events. 

 Continue to use feedback to adapt and improve delivery: Good use has been made 

of feedback to improve delivery as the pilot project evolved. Some specific 

suggestions include: ensure clients who choose not to have a mentor / DC have 

follow-up from the project to check that they do not need support at a later stage 

and to gain feedback.  This would also ensure that clients who choose not to have a 

DC, are still clear on who to contact in the event of any technical difficulties with 

equipment.   Build in regular communication with clients to inform them of 

timescales or any delays with equipment being delivered to them, and make 

contingency plans when doing future IT system improvements to manage any delays 

getting new system up and running. 

 Build on the benefits of partnership working to ensure a SO18BL legacy (or to 

ensure sustainability of SO18BL projects):  Involvement in the SO:Let’s Connect 

project and the Measuring Change work has led to greater understanding among 

SO18BLPC members with regards to value for money measurements, qualitative and 

quantitative data and that low client numbers do not always represent a poor result.  

Page 35



 

 

It’s also provided an important insight into partnership working, as opposed to 

SO18BL running things solely themselves or paying an organisation to deliver a 

specific piece of work.  As SO18BL funding draws to a close in the next few years, and 

funding will have to be sought in order to continue specific projects, this will be 

valuable experience for the group. 

 SO:Let’s Connect is working to source funding to cover a dedicated Project Manager 

administrator and other “core costs” (including tech support) in order that the 

project can expand and support a wider client base.  Costings have been calculated, 

thanks to the experience of the pilot projects, of a “per client” basis for future 

organisations that are wishing to buy support for a number of clients. 

 

Emma’s story 
Emma is 37 years old and lives with her husband and 10-year-old son, who has special needs.  She 
is completing foundation courses in Maths and English, but during lockdown, was finding this very 
hard to access as the remote learning system used by the college was not compatible with her 
mobile phone.  When she mentioned this to a Big Local worker, we gave Emma the information 
about SO:Let’s Connect, and she made contact with the project. 
 

“It was really straightforward – I contacted SO:Let’s Connect, and they explained 
everything over the phone, and were able to work out what equipment I needed.  They lent 
me a laptop so that I could access my college courses more easily and allocated me a 
volunteer to support me in using the laptop if I needed it.  It’s also allowed me to maintain 
my exercise sessions whilst shielding”. 
 

Emma was a fairly confident internet user, already having email and social media accounts, and 
having used Zoom a little, but her mentor Chris was on hand if queries came up, or there were 
specific things she wanted to do online that she was less confident with. 
 

“It’s really good to know the support is there, and that I can just send my mentor a 
message if I need any help.  Having the laptop has been amazing, as my son doesn’t like 
using the telephone, but this means we can have Zoom calls with family, and my son was 
even able to continue his martial arts lessons remotely while shielding.” 
 

Emma told us that being able to continue with her college courses, improve her IT skills and 
maintain access with both classes for her and her son throughout the lockdowns when shielding, 
has really helped with her own confidence: 
 

“Having the loan of this equipment has meant I have been able to sign up to be a Body 
Shop Consultant and earn some extra money, as well as joining the Skills Network, where I 
am now registered to do a SEND course online.  I’m now determined to write my CV and 
look for some part time work.  This a project I have recommended to others, and I would 
really be lost without now”. 

Page 36



 

 

Annex 1 – Measuring Change questionnaire  
 

“Before” questions asked to clients: 

1. How did you find out about SO: Let’s Connect? 

Prompts: Were you referred by someone? Another client? Worker? 

 

2. What’s the reason for you accessing SO: Let’s Connect?  

Prompts: What support / help do you need? What do you want to use digital devices for? What are the 

barriers for you in using digital devices? (Unsuitable kit, access to data, lack of confidence, worried 

about security / privacy issues, limited tech skills)   

                                  

3. Do you have access to the internet for your personal use (not work-related)?   

    

Yes         No, never had access     Not now, but I have in the past           

4. What device do you mostly use to go online? 

 

Prompts: Mobile phone, laptop, tablet 

5. Overall, how confident do you feel using digital devices? 

 

Very confident        Fairly confident               Not very confident         Not at all confident                     

6. What do you use digital devices for at the moment? 

    

Prompts: Connect with people, get health information, access services, do activities, bank, shop       

7. How often do you connect with people using digital devices?   

Prompts: Skype / zoom / Face Time, chat groups, support groups, emails, WhatsApp 

  

Daily              Weekly              Monthly           Never              

8. How often do you feel lonely?  

       Often              Some of the time            Occasionally       Hardly ever     Never 

9. How often do you go online for 

health-related issues?  

Prompts: find out about health issues, 

make a GP appointment 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

10. How often do you do activities 

online?   

Prompts:  Listen to music, 

games/puzzles, read, exercise, attend 

faith services, blog 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

11. How often do you do physical 

activities online? 

Prompts: Exercise class, dance, yoga 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

12. How often do you shop or bank 

online? 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

Page 37



 

 

 

“After” questions asked of clients: 

 

 

13. How often do you go online to study 

(or to help someone else to study)?  

 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

14. How often do you go online to look 

for work? 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

1. How well has SO: Let’s Connect met your needs? 

Very well         Well            A little          Not at all     

 

2. What support have you received from SO: Let’s Connect?  

Prompts: Borrowed kit, gained data, support from DC                                             

3. Do you have access to the internet for your personal use (not work-related)?   

 Yes         No, never had access     Not now, but I have in the past           

4.  What device do you mostly use to go online? 

Prompts: Mobile phone, laptop, tablet 

5. Overall, how confident do you feel using digital devices? 

Very confident        Fairly confident               Not very confident            Not at all confident                                          

6. What do you use digital devices for at the moment?  

Prompts: Connect with people, get health information, access services, do activities, bank, shop       

7. How often do you connect with people using digital devices?   

Prompts: Skype / zoom / Face Time, chat groups, support groups, emails, WhatsApp 

  

Daily              Weekly              Monthly           Never              

8. How often do you feel lonely?  

     Often              Some of the time            Occasionally       Hardly ever     Never 

8 a) If there is a change in the response since before the project, ask – Has SO Let’s Connect contributed to 

this change? If so, how? 

9. How often do you go online for 

health-related issues?  

Prompts: find out about health 

issues, make a GP appointment 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

10. How often do you do activities 

online?   

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

  

Prompts:  Listen to music, 

games/puzzles, read, exercise, 

attend faith services, blog 

11. How often do you do physical 

activities online? 

Prompts: Exercise class, dance, yoga 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

 

12. How often do you shop or bank 

online? 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

13. How often do you go online to study 

(or to help someone else to study)?  

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

14. How often do you go online to look 

for work? 

Daily                  Weekly                   Monthly                  Never                  

15. What are you doing differently now as a result of getting support from SO Let’s Connect? 
Prompts: connecting with people more / joining support groups, finding out local information, doing new 
activities online, getting prescriptions, shopping, banking 
 

16. What have you tried out online but decided not to continue to use / do? Why is this? 
 

17. What difference has getting support from SO: Let’s Connect made to you? 
 

18. What has been the most useful part of SO: Let’s Connect for you? 
 

19. What one change would you make to improve the project? 
 

20. Would you recommend SO: Let’s Connect to someone else? 
Yes                      No                          Not sure 

21. What could we do to encourage other people to use SO: Let’s Connect? 

Page 39



 

 

Annex 2 – SO:Let’s Connect feedback from clients 
Summary of information collected about people who contacted the 

project and why they got in touch  

(Collated from the SO18 Big Local database) 

10 people took part in the pilot - 9 women and 1 man. 2 other people who were referred did 

not take part as they were able to access equipment from a school. 

 

How did you find out about 
SO:Let’s Connect? 

Number of 
people 

BL worker 3 

Digital Connector 2 

Local school 3 

Local knowledge 1 

Townhill Pals 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Do you have access to the 
internet for personal use?  

Number 
of people 

I have access to the internet  5 

I had access in the past but not 
now 

3 

I have never had access 2 

What do you use digital devices 
for at the moment? 

Number of 
people 

Zoom 4 

Email 2 

Children’s school work  2 

Activities 2 

Access services 1 

Facebook 1 

College work 1 

Shop / bank 1 

How confident are you using 
digital devices? 

Number of 
people 

Very confident 4 

Fairly confident 3 

Not very confident 2 

Not at all confident 1 

I only have a phone and a very 

old laptop and my daughter 

can’t do her school work during 

lock down. 

 

I need internet 

(data). 

 

My children need IT for 

school work. I also want to 

access the job centre, do on-

line shopping and use video 

calling as I’m feeling 

isolated.  

 

I’m feeling panicky during 

the lock down and really 

isolated. Zoom and 

Facebook will connect me 

with friends.  

 

I tried Zoom a couple 

of times but the sound 

never worked. 

 

 

I have never used IT. I‘d like a 

laptop and someone to show 

me how to use it - to Zoom, 

shop and learn to knit. I have 

friends but because of Covid I 

can’t see anyone and feel 

extremely isolated. 

 

Page 40



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of support received by project clients 

Information was gathered from the SO18BL database, the SO:Let’s Connect CRM (customer 

relationship management) database and conversations with clients.  

Of the ten clients: 

 Information about the type of help received was available for all ten clients 

 Details about help offered was available for six people who were supported by a Digital 

Connector. Four clients received equipment/ internet data only and did not choose to have 

the support of a mentor. These clients did not have follow-up from the project and further 

information is not available (except for one client who was able to be contacted by phone 

for the evaluation). Details about the support offered and its impact was available from 7 

clients in total. 

 Conversations were held with five clients as part of ‘measuring change’. 

 

 

 

 

 

What help did you receive? Number of people 

Laptop / Chrome book 9 

Dongle (access to data) 3 

Support from a Digital Connector / volunteer mentor 6 

I have been shielding 

– I would like to 

access adult-ed 

classes to fill my 

time.  

 

My children are doing 

school work from 

home via a mobile 

phone – it’s a 

nightmare. 

 

 

My family is shielding and we are 

extremely isolated. As well as 

needing a laptop to complete 

college work, it would mean my 

disabled son could do his judo 

lessons and we could Zoom with 

family.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 I would like to get online and 

learn to shop, browse the 

internet and connect with 

friends. I also need to log into 

my Universal Credit account. 

 

Page 41



 

 

 

What support was provided by the Digital Connector? 

Clients were supported to: 

 get online, use the keyboard, navigate and undertake searches 

 use email, WhatsApp and Zoom 

 save and send documents and photos in different formats 

 complete and send homework 

 use WhatsApp, do internet searches, and set up shopping 

 problem solve e.g. improve sound; access cost-effective printing; rescue files from faulty 

equipment 

 install / update software 

 access data credit (from SO:Let’s Connect and local school) 

 receive free weekly meal deliveries. 

 access Energise (to engage in physical exercise) 

What difference did the support make to clients?  

Clients were using the internet in diverse ways depending on their differing needs, interests 

and skills. All were doing things that they were unable to do before and while two people 

were currently using digital devices in limited ways, due to health issues, each person said 

that their needs were met very well by the project and all were keen to continue developing 

their skills and internet use. 

Examples of what seven clients were now able to do include: 

 Accessing and being able to use the internet for the first time 

 Having reliable internet 

 Connecting with people via Zoom and WhatsApp 

 Completing school, college work, arts classes more easily and efficiently 

 Starting a college course 

 Get help with developing a CV 

 Shop online 

 Get health information and prescriptions 

 Update information required to access welfare benefits  

 Gain income from selling products online 

 Do activities e.g. exercise classes, drawing, martial arts, 

 Attend online events 

 One person was hoping to help plan community activities online, one was exploring digital 

design and another was planning to look for work. 

Impact on loneliness 

Four people shared their experience of loneliness before and after accessing So: Let’s 

Connect. Three of these said that they felt lonely less often after receiving support from the 

project and two people were clear that being more active digitally had contributed to this. 

One person had made new friends from joining on-line tours. 

Page 42



 

 

 

Clients’ words 

Having the internet means I can get help with writing a CV and I will be able to look for 

jobs. Also, my daughter loves using a drawing App. 

I am still very keen to learn, and I love doing it. My mentor has been very helpful and I 

appreciate her persistence with communicating with me over these 6 months (when I’ve 

been unwell and in-and-out of hospital.) 

The most useful thing has been having the laptop and getting support when I need it. 

I’d suggest advertising it better as lots of people could benefit from the project – maybe 

distribute leaflets and put-up posters e.g. at the different food banks, free food shops, 

charity shops and schools.  

Being able to connect with people and do fun arts projects has definitely helped with 

loneliness. 

Before, I often felt lonely, but I don’t now as I can study, do activities and connect 

regularly with people online. 

It’s helped us to survive. Being able to Zoom and see my mother and children face-face 

when talking to them is completely different. 

It’s enhanced and opened up new possibilities for me. 

I’m happy that I now have reliable internet. 

My only suggestion is to have better communication – I wasn’t sure when I’d get the 

Chromebook but then I got a call out of the blue. Also, while I had no problem, it would 

have been good to have a follow-up contact in case there were any problems 

 

 

 

 

 

 

i SO18 Big Local funded SCPA (Southampton Children’s Play Association) to deliver play packs to families during 
holidays as Covid-19 lockdowns prevented the running of traditional playschemes. 

                                            

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Digital access resources Southampton City Libraries – A summary of Services, 

Hardware and Software Southampton City Libraries   

 
Introduction 

Southampton City Libraries offer access to digital information and resources from 11 

libraries in the city. Six libraries are run by the Council and are part of a statutory 

service and a further 5 libraries are run in partnership with community groups and 

organisations. The City Council continues to support the equipment, technology and 

infrastructure for digital access across all sites. 

In summary and post Covid the service has rationalised its equipment to offer safe 

long-term access to digital and is in transition from PC based resources to self 

service Samsung tablets available in the library to offer greater flexibility and access 

options which users can tailor to their own need on all equipment. 

 
Equipment available 

 

Public Access PCs Tablets 

for hire 

Printers/MFDs/

Scanners 

Assistive Tech Assistive 

Software 

January 

2020 

January 

2022 

        

138 103  16  

(due for 

launch) 

7 for use by the 

public.  

Staff assisted. 

Big Keys 

keyboard  

 

Simplified 

enlarged MFD 

control panel 

available 

Standard 

Microsoft Ease 

of Access -  

Magnifier 

Narrator 

On-Screen 

Keyboard 

Windows 

Speech 

Recognition 

High contrast 

Sticky keys 

 

SS Overlay - 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



software 

coloured 

screen filters 

support for 

dyslexia 

Standard 

Samsung 

accessibility 

settings: Talk 

back, visibility 

enhancements, 

high contrast 

or inversion, 

zoom and 

magnifier 

 

Support and training 

 
There has been a pause in training during Covid but the library has a good track 

record of supporting individual and specific groups with digital skills and access. 

 
UP to 2019 Libraries ran Library licence courses to support people with learning 

disabilities to access library services which including exploiting digital media music, 

film, PCs and becoming confident with self service technology. 

 
From 2017 to Covid, as part of NHS Widening Digital Participation, the library ran 

regular ipad courses for stroke survivors to support people recovering from a stroke 

to use ipads to make daily life easier – use of maps, calendars, memory enhancers, 

games and exercises to improve motor skills.  Additionally, the library offered support 

for those with dementia and their carers specifically using tech for reminiscence and 

diary and memory book creation. 

 
Most recently we ran ipad Tablet and by extension smartphone sessions at 

Southampton Sight for those with a visual impairment. 

  

Page 46



We offer a reading group for those who are visually impaired through provision of 

digital spoken word books. 

 
Individuals in libraries are supported by Digital Champions – volunteers who, with 

training, offer 1-2-1 support on basic technology and digital access. 

 
New Services – Citizens Advice Hub. Launched as a response to Covid at Central 

and Shirley Libraries this allows anyone with no IT skills to meet a Citizens Advice 

employee in a digital hub, scan documents and in the future print forms completed 

by the adviser. Very simple and very popular. 

 
E- books and E-resources 

These have opened up opportunities for reading and listening to those with visual 

impairments through use of digital readers.  

 
Borrowbox 

Dyslexic Users – they have added a special font to the eBook reader that makes text 

more readable for dyslexic users.  

Adjustable Player Speeds – with the playback-speed options users can enjoy 

eAudiobooks at your own pace. 

Visually Impaired Users – The entire app is optimised to work with VoiceOver 

functionality that is built into iOS and Android devices. BorrowBox utilises the built-in 

screen reader to provide meaningful auditory descriptions of each on-screen 

element. This also includes an optimised eBook experience for the visually 

impaired.  

 
PressReader 

Font enhancement for easier readability and customisation.  Article view instead of 

newspaper or magazine view. Text extracted for the benefit of simpler navigation 

and compatibility with screen readers and VoiceOver functionality. 

Accessibility options available on both desktop and mobile sites as well as the 

PressReader app.  

 
Ancestry (and in part ProQuest) have a detailed and impressive accessibility 
statement - https://support.proquest.com/s/article/Ancestry-Library-Edition-
Accessibility-Statement?language=en_US 
 

Page 47

https://support.proquest.com/s/article/Ancestry-Library-Edition-Accessibility-Statement?language=en_US
https://support.proquest.com/s/article/Ancestry-Library-Edition-Accessibility-Statement?language=en_US


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	Minutes

	7 ACCESSIBLE SOUTHAMPTON - ACCESSIBILITY TO INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION
	Appendix 1 - So Let's Connect
	Appendix 2 - Library service ICT accessibility


